FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SEP 20 1996

BOBBY L. STEVERSON,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

vs -

Case No. 86,590

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JENNIFER Y. FOGLE Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 628204

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant, Bobby L. Steverson, is referred to by name in this brief. References to the record (Vols.I-III, pgs. 1-403) are designated by "R," and references to the transcript (Vols.III-XXI, pgs. 1-3172) by "T." The supplemental record is identified by "SR." Evidentiary items are designated by number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 7, 1994, a Polk County grand jury indicted Bobby Steverson for the first degree murder of Bobby Lucas (Count I), armed burglary with assault of Mr. Lucas (Count 11), and armed robbery by taking a television and/or video cassette recorder from Mr. Lucas's trailer (Count III). The crimes occurred on March 2 - 3, 1994. (R2-4)

The Honorable Dennis P. Maloney, Circuit Judge, presided over trial in May 1995. The jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged on all counts, (R164-166, T2787-2790) and recommended a sentence of death by nine to three. (R217, T3168-3171)

In imposing the death penalty, the judge found three statutory aggravating factors: (1) previous convictions of felonies involving the use of threat or violence to a person; (2) the murder was committed during the commission of a robbery and burglary; and (3) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. In mitigation the court found: (1) the murder was committed while Mr.

¹ § 921.141(5) (b), (d), and (h), Fla. Stat. (1993).

Steverson was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance; and (2) his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired.² The court recognized many non-statutory mitigating circumstances. These included Mr. Steverson's childhood emotional and physical abuse and lack of a dominant male figure which led him into decline; a rehabilitative period, which included a good marriage and good employment; a debilitating back injury suffered on the job, which led to termination of his employment and his deterioration again into drug and alcohol abuse; and a brief rehabilitative hospitalization which terminated when insurance coverage lapsed. The court concluded that the aggravating factors outweighed all mitigating circumstances. (R357-358, 361-365)

The judgment and sentence is attached as Appendix A.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Trial Testimony

The pertinent trial testimony is:

On the morning of Thursday, March 3, 1994, two friends of Bobby Lucas discovered his body in his trailer in west Lakeland. (T1417, 1421, 1450-1451) Tape bound his ankles and wrists to a kitchen chair. Numerous stab wounds marked his shirt. A taped plastic bag covered his head, and tape also covered his nose and

 $^{^{2}}$ § 921.141(6) (b) and (f), Fla. Stat. (1993).

mouth. A cord extended from the chair around his neck. (T1430-1432; 1258-1264) A TV and VCR appeared to be missing from the trailer. $(T1210, 1405-1406)^3$

From Mr. Lucas's trailer sheriff's office personnel collected scores of items for evidence, including 29 fingerprint cards and materials to be submitted for blood testing. The police conducted interviews to determine places and bars frequented by Mr. Lucas. They also obtained names of rock cocaine users and drug hookers with whom Mr. Lucas associated. (T1190-1192, 1276-1279, 1437-1440, 1489-90, 1512-1517, 1921-1925, 2192-2195)

Eventually additional items of evidence were collected from Mr. Steverson's blue Honda CRX. (T1199, 1267, 1331-1334) Despite the numerous fingerprints and other items of physical evidence collected from the crime scene and from the Honda, scientific tests, including DNA/PCR evaluations, did not connect Mr. Steverson to the crime in any way. (T1566-1605, 2261-2262)

Certain fingerprints were linked to a Hall, a Vanskiver, and a Kimberly Allen. No fingerprints were linked to Mr. Steverson. (T1609-1634)

It is undisputed that Bobby Steverson had known Bobby Lucas for many years and occasionally saw him over the years. The two men began getting together with some frequency in late 1993 and February and March 1994, because both men were using drugs. (T2314-2317, 2355)

 $^{^3}$ Mr. Lucas's death occurred between midnight and 2:00 a.m., March 3. (T1644-1645) He was last seen alive between 9:00 and 11:00 p.m., March 2. (T1366, 1370, 1760-1761, 1345-1359, 1364)

Mr. Steverson said he visited Mr. Lucas on March 2, arriving between 10:00 and 11:00 p.m. The two drank and smoked crack cocaine. About 11:30, someone knocked on the door and Mr. Steverson said, "go away, bitch," because Mr. Lucas did not want to see anyone. Steverson said Mr. Lucas was alive when he left the trailer, which was sometime between 11:30 and midnight. (T2355-2361, 2431-2435)

Several witnesses testified about their observations of a car parked at Lucas's trailer on or about March 2 - 3. Jay Peterson said he left the trailer next door to Mr. Lucas's at about 1:00 a.m. He saw a man who wore a baseball cap leave the area of Lucas's trailer door and walk to a small, blue or off-blue compact car, like a Ford Escort or a Chevrolet Chevette. Jay guessed the man was Caucasian. He did not remember anything more about what the person wore. (T1537-1545, 1547-1550) Mr. Steverson never was known to wear or own any type of cap or hat. (T2359, 2490, 2541-2543)

Three of the users, dealers, and hookers who were eventually contacted by the police testified that they saw a blue Honda parked behind Mr. Lucas's truck when they had been to Lucas's together late one night. Robert Todd Hall, testified that on March 2, Brenda Houle (a/k/a VanSkiver; a/k/a Salt & Pepper), Kenneth Eldridge ("Sharkey"), and he drove to Lucas's trailer in Hall's Tercel, a small hatchback Toyota. (T1681-1683, 1687-1688) Hall said he saw a blue Honda parked behind the victim's truck at about 11:00 or 11:30. (T1687-1689, 1690-1695, 1698)

Hall and the others made regular visits to Mr. Lucas's. Hall usually drove and was paid in drugs for driving. (T2063-2066)

Brenda Houle said they visited Mr. Lucas's possibly on a Friday night. (T2063-2068, 2059, 2082, 2087) About 11:00, midnight, or later she saw a blue CRX parked at the trailer behind Lucas's pickup. (T2068-2071, 2094-2096) In the hatchback of the car she thought she saw a TV, a VCR and/or a microwave or stereo receiver. There were three items in the car. (T2076-2077, 2091-2092) When she knocked on the door to see if Mr. Lucas wanted to buy some drugs she heard a voice, not Lucas's, say, "Bitch, get away before you get hurt." (T2073-2075)4

Kenneth Eldridge ("Sharkey") testified they went to Mr. Lucas's trailer many times, including a night in March, to sell him drugs or women. (T1699-1701, 1705-1706, 1711, 1731, 1734-1735) Sharkey thought it was very late -- 12:30 or 1:30 a.m. or later. (T1707-1708, 1713) Parked behind Lucas's truck was a small, navy or light blue car, with silver or gray around the bottom. It was a Honda CRX or CX. (T1708-1711)⁵

⁴ Brenda, who was both a user and seller of large-quantity drugs, had been convicted of over 100 felonies and testified she was in the drug business with Sharkey. (T2057-2059, 2084-2085, 2087) Brenda first found out that Bobby Lucas had been killed when she read a story in the newspaper. She heard she was being sought for questioning. (T2066) She saw the Honda again a few days later at the home of Bill Tudor. (T2078) The detectives had a hard time finding her and probably did not question her for a month after the incident. (T2066, 2081)

Sharkey admitted he and Brenda (Salt & Pepper) were boyfriend and girlfriend, but denied they were business partners in big drug business or that he dealt in large quantities of drugs. (T1703, 1729, 1730-1731) Sharkey denied he had drugs that night or that he ever drank, but said he and the others were partying. He

The trial of Mr. Steverson then featured testimony, over objection, of several witnesses about Steverson's attempted murder of detective Brian Rall. This offense occurred on March 7, 1994 at a drug house, the home of George and Debbie Lumbis, which the police had under surveillance. The police had also checked blue cars that were seen near the Lumbis's house. (T2192, 2199-2204, 2208)

For the criminal actions concerning the shooting of detective Rall, Mr. Steverson was tried before this trial and convicted for first-degree attempted murder of a law enforcement officer. On appeal, the attempted first-degree murder conviction was reversed and remanded, with directions to the trial court to reduce the conviction to attempted second-degree murder. The decision of the appellate court, Steverson v. State, No. 95-00713 (Fla. 2d DCA July 26, 1996), is attached as Appendix B of this brief.

At this trial on the Lucas charges, defense counsel unsuccessfully sought exclusion or limitation of the details of the collateral crime. (R66, 125, 139-146, 215-216; T1088-1089, 1525-1526, 2565, 2815-2817, 3060) Detective Rall testified that twice on March 7, an informant, Red Gore, paged him and said he had spotted a blue Honda. (T2208-2209, 2236) The car was supposed to be at the drug house of George and Debbie Lumbis, where the police had previously checked blue cars. Detective Rall and his partner

could not remember if they had gone to Mr. Lucas's earlier. (T1710-1711, 1734-1735)

drove to the Lumbis's in an unmarked maroon Taurus. (T2207, 2209-2210, 2213-2214) Rall said he was really looking to see if there was a credit card receipt that was possibly in the name of Bobby Lucas but would be in the pocket or possession of the person who drove the blue car. Detective Rall never found any such receipt. (T2249)

When Rall went to the Lumbis's, he wore a gun and had a badge and pager displayed. (T2210) He blocked the Honda. (T2213) Steverson, who he recognized as a victim from an earlier crime, was in the car and detective Rall approached. (T2213-2214) Rall asked Steverson why he had not followed up on the earlier case in which Steverson had been a victim. According to Rall, Steverson seemed to focus on Rall's badge and gun. Rall felt uncomfortable and said, "Bobby, you don't have any guns on you, do you." He thought Mr. Steverson said something and then he saw a butt of a handgun in Steverson's waistband. Rall immediately stepped back and yelled, "Oh, shit." He tried to pull his gun, a 9 millimeter, from his holster but the holster malfunctioned and his gun would not release immediately. Steverson got out of his car and began shooting as detective Rall ran backward trying to find cover. Steverson shot twice. Rall yelled to stop. Steverson turned and shot once more. Detective Rall returned fire, running after Bobby Steverson and shooting at him. Rall shot nine times. Mr. Steverson fell, rolled on the ground, and shot at Rall two more times. Rall hid behind a car, but when he looked out he was struck with a shotgun blast with birdshot. (T2217-2220) Mr. Steverson had been hit twice. (T2220)

The shotgun blast struck detective Rall in the leg, torso, face, under his armpits, on the top of his head and on one of his arms. A pellet struck the glass of his eyeglasses and deflected, and the pellet is still lodged in his nose. (T2221) After he was hit, detective Rall waited for help, staggered down the street, and yelled into his radio. (T2222) He could not see because blood dripped over his eyeglasses and face. (T2222) He was treated at the hospital and released late that night. (T2223) Rall testified that if he had information that Mr. Steverson was armed on March 7, he would have had an army with him when he approached. (T2240-2241) He resumed investigation of the Lucas case around March 15. (T2223-2229)

Detective Rall's partner was detective Primeau. (T1922-1925)
Primeau testified he and Rall went to the Lumbis's on March 7 to
try to locate a blue Honda, based on information that the car might
be there. They drove a maroon unmarked car. They wore street
clothes -- shirt, tie, and slacks -- and carried firearms, badges,
and pagers. They waited until people came out of the Lumbis's, and
blocked the blue Honda as Mr. Steverson got in the Honda. (T19281938)

According to Primeau, detective Rall walked up to Bobby Steverson and asked him if he remembered him from the case Rall investigated earlier where Steverson was a victim. (T1938-1939) Rall then asked a standard police question, basically, "you don't have any guns, you know, knives, . . .," and asked Steverson to step out of the car. (T1939) Suddenly, Rall backed away from the

car, reached for his gun and yelled, "Oh, shit Detective Primeau ran for shelter. (T1939)

Primeau heard an exchange of gunshots. (T1940) He saw Mr. Steverson running, moaning, with a hand up, and then he saw Steverson fall. Steverson was wounded in the right leg and right shoulder. (T1942-1943) Primeau chased Steverson. After Steverson fell, Primeau put his foot on Steverson's buttocks, pointed his gun at him, and told him not to move. (T1943)

Detective Primeau heard sirens and, shortly, deputy Larry Annen arrived and handcuffed Mr. Steverson. (T1943) Primeau then went to check on Brian Rall. (T1944) Primeau heard Rall yelling. He could see his partner down on the sidewalk. Rall seemed

as he continued to yell. (T1944) Primeau saw a sawed off gun and a .22 on the ground. The guns in evidence looked like the two at the scene, but Primeau never saw them in Mr. Steverson's hand. (T1944-1947)

Detective Larry Annen, a plainclothes tactical drug unit officer, testified he quickly arrived at the scene of the shooting of Brian Rall after hearing over his radio an "officer down" call. (T2098-2105) Numerous officers and undercover agents also heard the call and went to the area. (T2105)

Detective Annen first saw detective Rall, who was seated on the ground leaning against a post. Deputies were helping him. Detective Rall had blood on him and Annen knew he was injured. (T2105, 2107) Annen went to Mr. Steverson, who lay injured on the

ground, and asked what happened. (T2106-2111) Over objection, Annen testified the man's responses were: "I shot him, so he shot me." (T2108-2109) Annen asked him if there were any guns lying around and the man said, "yeah, two." Annen could not see any guns at the time. (T2109) Detective Annen asked him what he was shot with and he replied, "a 9 millimeter." (T2110) Annen said, "what did you shoot him with, when I was referring to Brian Rall, and he said, a .22." (T2110)

Sergeant Richard Bernard arrived at the scene after the shooting and saw that both detective Rall and Mr. Steverson were injured. Numerous police personnel were at the scene. (T1523-1524) Rall was bleeding and required medical care. Steverson appeared to be injured, but sergeant Bernard concerned himself with detective Rall, waited for the ambulances, and then went to the hospital to check on Rall. (T1524-1525) Over objection, 12 photographs of detective Rall's injuries were introduced as State Exhibit 130A through L. (T1525-1526)

Sergeant Bernard stayed at the hospital for at least forty-five minutes and insured that Rall's wife arrived and someone would be with him. (T1527) Detective Rall was incapacitated for several days. (T1529) Detective Primeau was put on administrative leave for a day or two because he was involved in a deadly force situation. (T1529)

While Rall was off duty numerous police personnel, including sergeant Bernard, sergeant Bob Kerr, detective Ann Cash, and crime scene technician Laurie Ward continued the investigation of the

shooting of detective Rall and the murder of Mr. Lucas. Mr. Steverson's Honda was searched and numerous items of potential evidence were photographed and processed. (T1199, 1267, 1269, 1319-1324, 1329-1331, 1472-1481, 1489-1501, 1531-1534)

When detective Rall returned to duty, the Lucas case was turned back over to him. (T1500-1501) According to Rall, he located a potential witness, Anne Dzublinski, on March 23 and interviewed her. He reinterviewed a potential witness, Bill Tudor. As a result, he wrote up an arrest affidavit for Mr. Steverson for the murder of Bobby Lucas. (T2229-2232)

Beyond the testimony about the attempted murder of detective Rall, the state theorized that the case was a circumstantial case of "admissions" that Mr. Steverson purportedly made to four people -- Anne Dzublinski, Tony Fisher, Sandra Pinkham, and Sylvester Johnson (Thumper). (R239; T2621-2644)

Anne Dzublinski lived at the drug house of Bill Tudor in exchange for \$25 a week and for providing Tudor with drugs and alcohol. (T2117-2125)⁶ According to Anne, Mr. Steverson arrived there at 1:00 or 2:00 a.m. on March 3. (T2134-2135, 2138) He seemed upset and had blood on his clothes between the thigh and the knee. A little blood was on his face. (T2135-2136) He said he had been in a fight at a bar with somebody who owed him money and the guy had punched him in the nose. (T2136)

⁶ Anne was a convicted felon and a lifetime user of alcohol, marijuana, cocaine, tranquilizers, heroin, and LSD. In the early part of 1994, Anne abused drugs and alcohol almost daily and suffered blackouts and memory problems. (T2166-2167, 2177-2182)

After they drank and had cocaine, Anne said Steverson told her that he thought he'd hurt somebody, that it was an older man with arthritis and gray hair. (T2137-2139) He thought maybe he had killed him. (T2140) Mr. Steverson told her "he had duct taped this person to a chair and that he had stabbed them and that he put a plastic bag over his head and he thought he'd killed him, and he made me swear I would never tell, And I tried my best to keep that promise until they told me they were arresting me for accessory to murder after the fact." (T2141) He told her that someone knocked on the door and the two figured it must have been Brenda because she had a very distinctive voice. (T2144-2145) Mr. Steverson was not sure if the man was dead. (T2146)

Tony Fisher testified that he checked into a room at the Budget Motel on Highway 92, where Mr. Steverson happened to be staying. (T1975-1976) Steverson tried to sell Fisher a watch. Fisher said he saw a receipt for the watch, which he thought bore

Anne said she read an article about Mr. Lucas's murder in the newspaper, but she did not call the police because she did not believe Bobby Steverson could do something like that. (T2156) When the police found her she first told them she knew nothing. When they told her they were charging her with accessory to murder she went to the station with them and told them the truth, to the best of her ability. (T2157) She was afraid of the police and shocked at what they said. (T2171)

To Anne, Mr. Steverson seemed scared, afraid, and paranoid, and so was she. (T2142-2144) She saw Mr. Steverson again that day or the next and he said he was leaving town. He wanted her to go with him but she said no. (T2149, 2175-2177)

Anne was sure she had these conversations with Mr. Steverson and she related them to the best of her ability, but she might have the sequence of events wrong. (T2183-2184)

According to the testimony of Bill Tudor, who was also a heavy alcohol and cocaine abuser, Anne told him that Mr. Steverson had killed a man. (T1861-1863, 1864-1865)

Mr. Lucas's signature. When shown a receipt from Mayor's Jewelers for the watch in court, it bore the name of Bobby Steverson, and Fisher said he could have been wrong about his previous position. (T1999, 2014-2017; Defense Exhibit 2, 7)

The next morning Mr. Steverson purportedly told Fisher he had killed Mr. Lucas but it was an accident. (T1978-1981) Fisher later hooked up with Red Gore, a police informant, and told him, knowing Gore would pass on the information. (T1983-1987, 2019-2020)8

According to Sylvester Johnson (Thumper), Mr. Steverson's statements to him were that he got in a "tussle" with a guy and he killed the guy after the guy threatened to call the police about something and swung a knife at Mr. Steverson. Allegedly Mr. Steverson said he took the knife, hit the guy, tried to leave, and they got in another tussle and the guy got killed. According to

Fisher said the police informant, Red Gore, told him that Bobby Lucas was killed. Fisher also read about the murder in the newspaper, and he heard about it from talk on the streets. (T1974-1975) Red Gore knew the details of how Mr. Lucas was killed. (T2022) There was a reward out, but Fisher denied he asked for anything or that Gore, he, and others had framed Steverson. (T2020-2027)

The Budget Motel had no registration card for Fisher. (T2274-2286, 1996-1997, 2009-2011)

Fisher had an extensive criminal record. At the time he testified, Fisher was serving time in county jail. He first refused to testify in this case but, facing contempt, he chose to testify. (T2028-2045, 2050-2056, 1950-1965) The first time anyone in law enforcement ever contacted Tony Fisher, and the first time he ever told anyone his story was a few months before the trial. (T1993, 2001, 2027)

Thumper, Steverson said he thought he needed to leave town soon. (T1886-1893, 1907-1908)9

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