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

In the case at hand, the evidence surrounding the bank robbery was relevant to the issue of ownership and possession of the murder weapon by appellant. The state was able to match the registration number of the murder weapon to a shotgun which appellant had pawned and redeemed prior to the bank robbery. It was also able to show that the residue from the modification of the murder weapon had been seized in appellant's home immediately following the bank robbery. Further, it was able to show that appellant used a sawed-off shotgun similar in appearance to the murder weapon in the bank robbery.

Bryan v. State, 533 So.2d
744 (Fla. 1988)

Because the evidence was highly probative, the danger of unfair prejudice did not preclude its admission. This Court has repeatedly approved the admission of highly prejudicial evidence, such as the defendant's commission of other murders, when

sufficient probative value has been shown. See, Fotonoulos v. State, 608 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1992); Heiney; Henry v. State, 649 So.2d 1361, 1365 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, ___ U.S. 116 S.Ct. 101, 133 L.Ed.2d 55 (1995); Henry v. State, 649 So.2d 1366, 1368 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, ___ U.S. ___, 115 S.Ct. 2591, 132 L.Ed.2d 839 (1995); Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1000, 1007 (Fla. 1994) (finding relevance of six similar murders committed by Wuornos "clearly outweighs prejudice" of their admission), ~~cert. denied~~, ___ U.S. ___, 115 S.Ct. 1705, 131 L.Ed.2d 566 (1995); Buenoano v. State, 527 So. 194 (Fla. 1988); Smith v. State, 365 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1978), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 885 (1979).

The appellant's reliance on Henry v. State, 574 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1991), is misplaced. In Henry, this Court reversed Henry's conviction for murder of his common law wife, due to evidence admitted in his trial relating to the fact that after killing his wife, Henry kidnaped her five-year-old son and murdered him as well. The reason that the evidence of the son's murder was *unfairly* prejudicial is that the state admitted many unnecessary details about the son's death, including photographs taken at the son's autopsy. In the instant case, no such unnecessary details

were admitted. The collateral evidence included only those facts necessary to explain to place the facts in the context.

Furthermore, the record does not support the appellant's assertion that this evidence became a feature of the trial. The state strongly takes issue with the appellant's description as to both the quality and quantity of this evidence. Appellant's claim that the only evidence presented in support of the Lucas murder was "only disputed evidence that Mr. Steverson, in his blue car, was at Mr. Lucas's trailer the night of the Lucas murder.'" (Brief of Appellant, pg. 50) To the contrary, the evidence included confessions of guilt for the homicide to Anne Dzublinski, Tony Fisher, Sylvester Johnson and Sandra Pinkham. (T 1771-79, 1886-93, 1907-08, 1978-81, 2137-46) Dzublinski also testified that Steverson had blood on him when he arrived at her house after the murder. Additionally, the evidence shows that Steverson took a television and VCR from the victim and, coincidentally, Houle saw a television and a VCR in Steverson's car when it was parked at Lucas' on the night of the murder. (T 1210, 1405-06, 2076-77, 2091-92)²

²Appellant asserts that Houle testified that it was a TV and a VCR and/or a microwave and a stereo. Houle stated that the TV and the VCR stood out but the other item could have been a microwave or a

On these facts, the appellant has failed to establish any abuse of discretion in the trial court's admission of evidence about prior collateral crimes and other bad acts by the appellant. The trial court's conclusion that the probative value of this testimony was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice was correct. The evidence was clearly relevant, highly probative, limited in scope, and was not a feature of the trial. *Any* possible error in the admission of some of the less prejudicial, less probative testimony would be harmless beyond any reasonable doubt. Therefore, the appellant is not entitled to a new trial.

stereo. (T 2076-77) "The TV and VCR definitely were obvious." (T 2091)

ISSUE III

WHETHER DEATH PENALTY WAS PROPORTIONATE.

Appellant's final claim is that the death penalty is disproportionate in the instant case in light of the totality of circumstances. He contends that the two statutory and two nonstatutory mitigating circumstances outweighed the three aggravating circumstances and that the judge's weighing process improperly relied on the collateral conviction. It is the state's contention that the sentence was properly imposed and should be affirmed by this Court. A review of the record and the trial court's order imposing the death sentence establishes that the sentence in the instant case is proportionate.

The court below found three aggravating circumstances; 1) three prior **violent felonies** -battery on a law enforcement officer (1982), armed robbery (1985) and attempted murder of a law enforcement officer (1994); 2) during **the commission of a robbery**; and 3) heinous, atrocious, or cruel. (R 361-2) In mitigation the court found the two "mental" mitigators, as well as nonstatutory mitigating based on Steverson's family history and his drug addiction. The jury recommended death by a vote of 9-3. (R 364)

Of course, proportionality review is not a recounting of aggravating versus mitigating but, compares the case with similar

defendants, facts and sentences. Tillman v. State, 591 So.2d 167 (Fla. 1991). This Court must weigh the nature and quality of the factors as compared with other death cases. Kramer v. State, 619 So.2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1993). The judge's order reflects that Robert Lucas' body was discovered sitting in a chair with a plastic bag duct-taped over his head and neck. Steverson had tied an electrical cord around his neck and attached to the lower portion of the chair. His feet were bound. His hands and arms were duct-taped to the legs of the chair. Steverson had stabbed him twelve times in his chest, back and neck with two different types of instruments. A screwdriver and a bloody broken kitchen knife were found near the body. Additionally, the assailant fractured the cartilage of Lucas' larynx, presumably because of the ligature around the neck, The cause of death was asphyxiation with multiple stab wounds. (R 362) The jury convicted Steverson of first degree murder, armed burglary and armed robbery. (R 366)

Under circumstances similar to the instant case, this Honorable Court has upheld the imposition of the death penalty. See, Atwater v. State, 626 So.2d 1325 (Fla. 1993) (sentence upheld where defendant entered victim's apartment and repeatedly stabbed victim); Bowden v. State, 588 So.2d 225 (Fla. 1991) (sentence affirmed where the evidence shows that the victim was brutally

beaten to death with a rebar and the trial court imposed death after finding HAC and prior violent felony balanced against Bowden's abused childhood), ~~cert. denied~~, ___ U.S. ___, 112 S.Ct. 1596, 118 L.Ed.2d 311 (1992); Hayes v. State, 581 So.2d 121 (Fla. 1991) (two aggravating factors weighed against minor mitigating factors of age, low intelligence, learning disabled, a product of deprived environment); Freeman v. State, 563 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1990) (death penalty not disproportionate where two aggravating factors weighed against mitigating evidence of low intelligence and abused childhood), ~~cert. denied~~, ___ U.S. ___, 111 S.Ct. 2910, 115 L.Ed.2d 1073 (1991); Kight v. State, 512 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1987) (death penalty proportionally imposed with two aggravating factors despite evidence of mental retardation and deprived childhood), ~~cert. denied~~, 485 U.S. 929, 108 S.Ct. 1100, 99 L.Ed.2d 262 (1988), ~~disapproved on other grounds~~, Owen v. State, 596 So.2d 985 (Fla. 1992); Watts v. State, 593 So.2d 198 (Fla.) (prior convictions, during the course of sexual battery, and pecuniary gain outweighed mitigation of defendant's age and low IQ), ~~cert. denied~~, ___ U.S. ___, 120 L.Ed.2d 881 (1992).

A review of the facts established in the instant case clearly demonstrates the proportionality of the death sentence imposed. The circumstances of this murder and the defendant's propensity for

violence compel the imposition of the death penalty. The appellant's prior violent felony convictions, even standing alone in aggravation, outweighs the mitigation evidence presented and found in this case. Therefore, this Court should not disturb the appellant's sentence in this appeal.

Robert Lucas' murder was the result a totally unprovoked attack by Bobby Steverson, who has a significant history of prior violent felonies. Lucas was unarmed and in his own home when he was subjected to a tortuous murder at the hands of Steverson.

Based on the foregoing, the state urges this Honorable Court to find that the sentence imposed in the instant was properly imposed.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT CONDUCTED A SUFFICIENT INTERVIEW OF JURORS TO DETERMINE IF THEY WERE EXPOSED TO PREJUDICIAL NEWSPAPER ACCOUNTS.

Appellant also complains that jurors were improperly exposed to prejudicial newspaper accounts or headlines immediately prior to the penalty phase. He contends also that the trial court conducted an insufficient inquiry into the matter and, therefore, he is entitled to a new penalty phase. It is the state's position that no reversible error has been shown.

This claim was the subject of a hearing below. Defense counsel asserted that jurors were aware of news accounts which stated that Steverson had made incriminating statements to a corrections officer after the guilt phase and before penalty phase. Judge Maloney interviewed 10 of the 12 jurors about whether the information was known and/or considered in the jury room in the deliberation process. Only three jurors expressed knowledge of the article, stating only that two of them had seen the headline and a third had overheard a reference to it. (T 271-72, 273, 283) Each juror interviewed said the information had not been considered during deliberations. (T 272-85)

Based on the foregoing Judge Maloney entered the following Order:

On May 26, 1995, Defendant Bobby Steverson was convicted of first degree murder. Six days later the jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of nine to three. After the jury returned its sentence recommendation but before sentencing, a juror, Roger Davis, contacted the court with details of possible juror misconduct. (see attached memorandum A) First, he said that a few of the other jurors had been exposed to a newspaper account which included the defendant's confession to a corrections officer. This took place after the defendant had been found guilty in the guilt phase but prior to beginning the penalty phase. Further, that another juror, Robert Mathis, may have swayed the jury during the penalty phase by telling them about an uncle who was beaten to death.

Juror interviews were granted and a hearing was held on June 23, 1995. Each juror was asked the same two questions: one, prior to deliberations, were you aware of the post-conviction confession? Two, was there any discussion in the jury room about Steverson's confession to the corrections officer? All ten jurors interviewed said that there was no discussion of the confession during the deliberations in the jury room. There was evidence that one juror had seen a headline in a newspaper, but had not read the article. Also, that at most, two other jurors had heard about the headline from this juror, but had received no details ~~about~~ the article.

Defendant also claims he is entitled to a new penalty phase because some members of the jury were exposed to a newspaper account of a confession that the Defendant made to a corrections officer prior to their deliberations. If the defendant can show that unauthorized material as considered by the jury, he is entitled to a new trial "Unless it

can be said that there is no reasonable possibility that the [unauthorized material] affected the verdict." Hamilton, at 129 (quoting Rodriguez y Pax v. United States, 473 F.2d 662, 663-64 (5th Cir.), *cert denied*, 414 U.S. 820, 94 S.Ct. 115, 38 L.Ed.2d 52 (1973)). The harmless error test places the burden on the state, as the beneficiary of the error, to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict. State v. DiGulio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

A close examination of the facts shows that the state has proven that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the death recommendation. Interviews with ten of the twelve jurors revealed the following. Prior to commencing the evidentiary portion of the penalty phase, Juror Davis overheard one juror tell another that Steverson had confessed. Juror Ward said that he saw a headline in a newspaper which read "Steverson Confesses." He did not read the accompanying article. All (sic)

The facts of this case are analogous to Amazon v. State, 487 So.2d 8 (Fla. 1986). In Amazon, the defendant alleged that he was prejudiced when one of the jurors watched news accounts of the trial on television with the sound turned off, The Court held that, though this establishes a prima facie case of potential prejudice, the presumption was rebutted by the nature of the occurrence. Id. at 12. Since the sound was off, the jurors were not exposed to prejudicial verbiage. Id.

Another case which is instructive is U.S. v. Bollinger, 837 F.2d 436 (Ct. App. 11th Cir. 1988). In that case, the Defendant offered sufficient evidence of jury contamination to warrant interviews of the jurors. At the post-trial hearing, one of the jurors testified that another juror had made reference to a prejudicial article about the

defendant in the newspaper. Approximately nine other jurors were made aware of the article. The other jurors also testified that the article was not discussed during the jury's deliberations. The court held that the introduction of this extrinsic evidence was harmless, in part because of the strength and nature of the evidence presented by the state. Id. at 440.

The strength of the state's case during the guilt phase of this trial centered on four witnesses who testified that the Defendant had confessed to each of them. All that the newspaper headline could have related to jurors was that the Defendant had confessed to another person. This new confession occurred after the guilt phase had been concluded, and its only effect could be the elimination of any residual doubt in the minds of the jury as to the Defendant's guilt. In Florida, residual doubt is not an appropriate nonstatutory mitigating circumstance. Preston v. State, 607 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1992). As the Florida Supreme Court stated in Buford v. State, 403 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1981), "A convicted Defendant cannot be "a little bit guilty." It is unreasonable for a jury to say in one breath that a defendant's guilt has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt and, in the next breath, to say someone else may have done it, so we recommend mercy." Id. at 953.

This court finds that at least two of the jurors were aware of the Defendant's post-conviction confession, Clearly it would be improper for the jury to consider this information when deliberating a sentence recommendation. But the uncontroverted testimony of all interviewed jurors was that the post-conviction confession was never mentioned during deliberations. While it was improper for any of the jurors to receive unauthorized information, under the facts of this case such information was harmless beyond

a reasonable doubt.

(R 307-11)

This finding by the trial court is well supported by the facts and was within the court's discretion. As appellant has failed to show an abuse of that discretion, this claim should be denied. U.S. v. Bolinger, 837 F.2d 436 (11th Cir. 1988); Pietri v. State, 644 So.2d 1347 (Fla. 1994); Jennings v. State, 512 So.2d 169, 174 (Fla. 1987). The trial court also properly refused the extensive inquiry into the jurors' deliberation process as requested by defense counsel and urged on appeal. (R 255-57) The questions asked by Judge Maloney sufficiently focused on the overt actions as to give all concerned an accurate and complete picture of any material action. , 574 So.2d 124, 131 (Fla. 1991); Compare, Marshall v. State, 604 So.2d 799, 805 (Fla. 1992).

Finally, error, if any, is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Hamilton, 574 So.2d 124, 131 (Fla. 1991). Only a few jurors saw the headline and only after guilt phase. Steverson had already been found guilty as charged³. Additionally, the state had

³Appellant faults the court below for his reference to the fact that lingering or residual doubt is not a consideration in guilt phase. The court's reference is entirely appropriate when the harmfulness of a guilt phase issue is considered when the allegedly prejudicial material goes only to the question of guilt which has already been resolved. Thus, the only possible effect is to remove any residual doubt, which as the court stated, is not a proper

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